
PERSONNEL AND GENERAL 
PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 13th December, 2017

Time: 7.00 pm

Venue: Guildhall



2

PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE 
Members of the Sub-Committee:-

Chairman: Councillor Louis Stephen (G)
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Marc Bayliss (C) and Councillor Adrian Gregson (L)

Councillor Mrs. Lucy Hodgson (C)
Councillor Chris Mitchell (C)

Councillor Joy Squires (L)
Councillor Geoff Williams (L)

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour

Information for Members of the Public

Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 
to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face 
the Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled 
parking space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground 
floor, which can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility 
and you wish to attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance 
and we will make any necessary arrangements to assist your visit.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 
minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 
preparation of these reports.  Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report.
Please note that this is a public meeting and  members of the public and press are permitted to report 
on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 
attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 
attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded 
and for any footage to be broadcast or published. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items 
of 'Exempt or Confidential Information' for which the public are excluded from the meeting and neither 
reports nor background papers are open to public inspection.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 
for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last 
working day before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned 
below.

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 
papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 
film, video or sound recording, please contact the Lead Officer, Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 
Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722005 (direct line); E-
Mail Address:  committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk.

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 
minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information.

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 
electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 
worcester.gov.uk

mailto:committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk


3

Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee
Wednesday, 13 December 2017

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. Appointment of Substitutes To receive details of any Members 
appointed to attend the meeting instead of 
a Member of the Sub-Committee.

2. Declarations of Interest To receive any declarations of interest.

3. Public Participation Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be 
allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of 
the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee.

4. Minutes 
Page(s): 1 - 8

Of the meetings held on 28th June, 30th 
August, 1st September and 
13th November 2017 to be approved and 
signed.

5. Options to Improve Sickness 
Absence Across The Council 
Page(s): 9 - 18
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

1. To approve the introduction of  an 
independent Absence Management 
Service which includes a dedicated 
24/7 telephone line, nurse-led 
telephone reviews and real-time 
management reports.

2 To approve investment in wellbeing 
initiatives to proactively assist 
employees in staying healthy at 
work, encouraging good lifestyle 
choices and to make the Council an 
attractive place to work.

6. Redundancy, Redeployment and 
Change Management Policies 
Page(s): 19 - 44
Ward(s): All Wards

That Personnel & General Purposes Sub 
Committee  approve the adoption of the 
Redundancy, Redeployment and Change 
Management Policies 



4

Contact Officer: Alison Darbyshire, 
HR Operations 
Team Leader
Tel: 01905 
721159

7. Labour Market Force's 
Supplement Policy 
Page(s): 45 - 54
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Alison Darbyshire, 

HR Operations 
Team Leader
Tel: 01905 
721159

That the Personnel & General Purposes Sub 
Committee  approves the adoption of a new 
Labour Market Force’s Supplement Policy 
following the implementation of 
Paymatters.

8. Review of Subsistence  Expenses 
for  Employees 
Page(s): 55 - 60
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Alison Darbyshire, 

HR Operations 
Team Leader
Tel: 01905 
721159

That the Personnel & General Purposes Sub 
Committee  approve the proposed 
amendments to existing Subsistence rates 
in line with HMRC rules. (Appendix 1)

9. Any Other Business Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.

10. Item Involving the Disclosure of 
Except Information 

The Sub-Committee is invited to pass the 
following resolution:

That under Section 100A (4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of 
information as defined in Schedule 12A 
of the said Act.



5

PART II
(ITEM FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PRIVATE)

Exempt – not for publication because the item contains information relating to any 
individual and also relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person – 
categories 1 and 3

11. Minutes (Exempt) 
Page(s): 61 - 64

Of the meeting held on 30th August and 1st 
September 2017 to be approved and 
signed.



This page is intentionally left blank



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

28th June 2017

Present: Councillor Stephen in the Chair

Councillors Bayliss (Vice-Chairman), 
Gregson (Vice-Chairman), Mrs L. Hodgson, 
Mitchell, J. Squires and G. Williams

Officers: David Blake, Managing Director
Mark Edwards, Head of People Services

1 Appointment of Substitutes 

None.

2 Declarations of Interest 

None.

3 Public Participation 

None.

4 Corporate Director Recruitment 

The Sub-Committee considered a report from the Head of People Services on a 
proposal to recruit to the now vacant post of Corporate Director – Place. The 
proposed Job Description and Person Specification were attached to the report.

Given that the Place portfolio was David Blake’s area of expertise, consideration 
had been given to deleting the post, but it was felt that this would impact 
negatively on David’s capacity and focus on the critical role of Managing Director.

Sub-Committee Members identified that there should be a reference to 
safeguarding in the Job Description and Person Specification which was not the 
case. 

Sub-Committee Members expressed support for the proposal and subject to a 
reference being made to safeguarding in the Job Description and Person 
Specification it was

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee to agree to commence recruitment 
to the post of Corporate Director – Place.

5 Family Friendly Policy and Procedures 

The Head of People Services reported on the Family Friendly Employment Policy 
and associated family friendly procedures that had been created to describe the 
full range of options available to employees in one place and in user friendly plain 
English. These would give clarity to staff on current eligibility and entitlements 
and present the Council as family friendly employer. The Policy and Procedures 
were attached to the report.

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



28th June 2017 2

Adoption of the Policy and Procedures had been supported by the Joint 
Consultative and Safety Committee.

Sub-Committee Members requested that the Head of People Services provide an 
estimate on the potential annual costs of paternity leave.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approve the Family Friendly 
Employment Policy and the associated six Family Friendly Procedures.

6 Any Other Business 

The Chairman agreed to consider the following items of urgent business.

Diversity Audit of City Council Employees 

To ensure the diversity of City Council staff reflected the needs of the Community 
the Chairman requested that a Diversity Audit be carried out.

Sub-Committee Members expressed their support for such an audit to be carried 
out. 

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agree that the Head of People 
Services carry out a Diversity Audit of City Council employees for a future 
report to be made to the Sub-Committee.

Creation of Gateway Jobs 

The Chairman proposed that two or possibly more Gateway Jobs be created to 
provide an opportunity for the long term unemployed to progress into more longer 
term employment. 

Sub-Committee Members expressed their support for this proposal but did 
however state that any arrangements put in place should be considered with 
current financial benefits received and employment arrangements that other 
organisations have in place. Sub-Committee Members also debated the 
appropriate length of the arrangement.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agree that the Head of People 
Services investigate arrangement options together with costings for a 
future report to be made to the Sub-Committee.

Duration of the meeting: 7.00pm – 7.35pm

Chairman at the meeting on
27th September 2017

Page 2



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

30th August 2017

Present: Councillor Gregson (Vice-Chairman) in the 
Chair

Councillors L. Denham (for Councillor J. 
Squires, Mrs L. Hodgson, Johnson (for 
Councillor Bayliss), Mitchell and G. Williams

Also in Attendance:
Colin Williams, West Midlands Employers
Mark Barrow, Specialist External Technical 
Assessor 

Officers: David Blake, Managing Director
Alison Darbyshire, Human Resources

Apologies: Councillor Stephen

7 Declarations of Interest 

None.

8 Item Involving the Disclosure of Exempt Information 

That under Section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Schedule 12A of the said Act.

9 First Interviews for the Post of Corporate Director - Place 

The Sub-Committee held interviews of candidates selected at the longlisting 
meeting to determine which candidates should go through to the final stage.

Exempt – not for publication because the item contains information 
relating to any individual and also relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person – categories 1 and 3.

Duration of the meeting: 9:00a.m. – 5.00p.m.

Chairman at the meeting on
13th December 2017

Page 3 Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

1st September 2017

Present: Councillor Gregson (Vice-Chairman) in the 
Chair

Councillors L. Denham (for Councillor J. 
Squires), Mrs L. Hodgson, Johnson (for 
Councillor Bayliss), Mitchell and G. Williams

Also in Attendance:
Colin Williams, West Midlands Employers 

Officers: David Blake, Managing Director
Alison Darbyshire, Human Resources 

Apologies: Councillor Stephen

10 Declarations of Interest 

None.

11 Item Involving the Disclosure of Exempt Information 

That under Section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Schedule 12A of the said Act.

12 Final Interviews for the Post of Corporate Director - Place 

The Panel interviewed and evaluated 2 candidates for the post of Corporate 
Director - Place and agreed the offer of the appointment to one of the candidates.

Exempt – not for publication because the item contains information relating to any 
individual and also relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person – categories 1 and 3.

Duration of the meeting: 11.30a.m. – 3.00p.m.

Chairman at the meeting on
13th December 2017

Page 5 Agenda Item 4
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

13th November 2017

Present: Councillor Louis Stephen in the Chair

Councillors Bayliss (Vice-Chairman), 
Cawthorne (for Councillor J. Squires), 
Gregson (Vice-Chairman), S. Hodgson (for 
Councillor Mrs L. Hodgson), Johnson (for 
Councillor Mitchell) and G. Williams

Officers: Mark Edwards, Head of People Services
Shane Flynn, Corporate Director – Finance 
and Resources
Tim O’Gara, Deputy Director – Governance

13 Declarations of Interest 

None.

14 Item Involving the Disclosure of Exempt Information 

RESOLVED: That under Section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item 
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Schedule 12A of the said Act.

15 Request to Transfer an Occupational Pension 

The Sub-Committee considered and determined a request to transfer an 
occupational pension into the Local Government Superannuation Scheme.

Duration of the meeting: 5.30p.m. – 6.10p.m.

Chairman at the meeting on
13th December 2017

Page 7 Agenda Item 4
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1  

Report to:  Personnel and General Purposes Sub Committee – 13 December 2017

Report of: HR Officer, People Services 

Subject: OPTIONS TO IMPROVE SICKNESS ABSENCE ACROSS THE COUNCIL

1. Recommendation

1.1 To introduce an independent Absence Management Service which includes a 
dedicated 24/7 telephone line, nurse-led telephone reviews and real-time 
management reports.

1.2 To invest in wellbeing initiatives to proactively assist employees in staying 
healthy at work, encouraging good lifestyle choices and to make the Council 
an attractive place to work.

2. Background

2.1 The sickness days across the Council for 2016 to 2017 equated to 12.63 days per 
employee, which is the highest levels recorded in more than 11 years.

2.2 There is often a link between levels of employee engagement and sickness absence, 
so we would expect our excellence work to have a positive impact on attendance.  
However, it is clear we need to do more to improve the situation.

2.3 According to the ONS survey 2016, the average days sickness was  4.3 days per 
worker (2.9% public sector, 1.7% private sector).  LGA Figures for 2016/17 suggest 
an average number of days lost in District Councils was 8.The high sickness absence 
levels in Worcester City Council directly impacts budgetary costs, service delivery, 
customer satisfaction and ultimately the Council’s reputation.
 

2.4 The increased workloads of employees covering staffing shortfalls can increase their 
risk of burn out, workplace stress, reduce motivation, disengagement or even 
attrition of talented staff.  

2.5 With the strategy to reduce agency and consultancy costs in the Council, the need to 
quickly improve staff attendance and support an employee’s wellbeing is vital if the 
Council is to achieve its objectives. The introduction of the Absence Management 
Service could significantly improve attendance and enable investment in pro-active 
Wellbeing initiatives.

2.6  We have consulted with trade unions on this proposal and it was agreed at Joint 
Consultative and Policy Committee.

3. Preferred Option 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2  

3.1 Introduce the First Care Absence Management Solutions Service (see separate 
business case) by April 2018.  Following consultations with the trade unions we have 
committed to reviewing the impact of this scheme on employee wellbeing at the of 
the first 12 months.

3.2 To invest in Wellbeing initiatives to assist employees in staying healthy at work as a 
preventative approach and provide more support to help return to work sooner.  This 
includes working towards being awarded level 3 Worcestershire Works Well.  

3.3 Wellbeing initiatives can be agreed via employee forums or feedback and could 
include, but not limited to:

 50% off gym membership as a benefit to employees to encourage them to 
keep fit and active (assuming 25% take up this would cost £11,250 per 
annum based on 250 employees and £15 per person per month)

 Gifting employees a fitness tracker such as a fitbit, to promote and track daily 
activity levels.  Recognising high activity levels of individual employees could 
encourage overall wellbeing and help engage staff, as a social and sport 
initiative.

 Invest in employee health screenings delivered by a health practitioner, to 
encourage lifestyle changes and/or health monitoring equipment.

 Providing regular fresh fruit baskets at sites to encourage healthy eating.

 Visits by workstation massage therapists, who work on both the physical level 
(giving the shoulders and back a good stretch and supporting posture) and 
physiological level (relieving stress).  

4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 Provide an attendance bonus.  This can have HMRC implications and is an additional 
cost for the Council.

4.2 To reduce the Council’s 90% sick pay to either 75% or 50% for all sickness absence. 
This could increase a risk of employees not being able to afford to be off sick with 
serious health conditions. There could also be a minimal risk of disability 
discrimination as it would apply to all employees and disabled employees could be at 
a disadvantage financially.

4.3 Retain in-house sickness management processes and reporting.  The amount of time 
that line managers take to monitor and chase updates on high levels of sickness and 
complete various forms could be better used in developing team relations, building 
resilience in their team’s wellbeing, encouraging and recognising healthy lifestyles 
and increasing morale and engagement. 

5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
Based on sickness levels falling by half to 6 days, this could generate savings of 
£120,000 based on 90% sick pay.  The annual cost of the First Care Absence 

Page 10



3  

Management Solution is £14,790 plus the costs of any wellbeing initiatives 
undertaken. 

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications
This would be a legally acceptable solution.

5.3 Risk Implications
That the First Call absence management service is not implemented or 
communicated effectively to staff.  First Call will therefore work closely with the 
Council to provide a comprehensive and proven implementation process, successful 
in other UK Local Authorities.

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
The sickness absence policy and procedure will need to be amended along with the 
payroll/HR system and relevant forms.  

5.5 Equality Implications
There is a minimal risk of disability discrimination as it applies to all employees and 
although there may be a greater risk of higher levels of sickness absence for certain 
conditions, a generous level of sick pay is available.

5.6 Human Resources Implications
As this is a change in terms and conditions, it will need to be agreed with the Trade 
unions and the relevant policies, forms and HR/Payroll system updated.
Employees may attend work whilst ill and take longer to recover and infect others in 
the process.

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
There is a risk that employees may attend work when they are ill and could result in 
more employees being ill and less effective whilst at work.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Catherine Simcox, HR Officer 01905 722043.  

Catherine.simcox@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 

Page 11

mailto:Catherine.simcox@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Date: 19th May 2017

Business Case:   The Introduction of an Absence Management Service at 
Worcester City Council

Catherine Simcox  - HR Officer, People Services

Introduction

This report will critically evaluate the introduction of an externally provided 
Sickness Absence Management Service for Worcester City Council.  

There are currently 255 staff (235 FTE) employed in the Council. Sickness 
absence rates have increased by 2.5% over the last 4 years (HRIS).  There has 
been 2620 FTE sick days as at Q3 (Oct – Dec 2016), equating to 10.9 days 
sickness absence per FTE.   

When considering the council’s sickness absence trend, there was an average of  
12 days lost to sickness absence per employee in Worcester City Council at the 
end of the last financial year 2016/17.  This is far higher than the annual average  
8.5 days per public sector employee, detailed in the CIPD 2016 Annual Survey 
Report - Public Sector Summary.

An organisation needs effective people management policies to promote 
engagement and attendance and therefore reduce absence. Creating a good work 
environment means employees are less likely to wake up and think ‘I don’t feel 
like going in to work today’.  Effective absence management is about 
supporting employees with health problems to stay in or return to work. 
Developing effective return-to-work programmes and offering flexible working 
where possible form part of an absence management strategy.  A focus on 
employee well-being and health promotion can help avoid absence problems 
developing. Employers should remember that most absence is genuine and that 
employees often need support in their recovery.  (CIPD, 2016)

By incorporating an independent Absence Management Service, the Council could 
help reduce sickness absence levels, create a culture of fair treatment, focus on 
promoting wellbeing initiatives and provide real time, accurate data on which to 
base decision-making on staffing, especially in an operational setting.

Discussion

Worcester City Council has higher than average levels of sickness absence that 
directly impacts budgetary costs,  service delivery, customer satisfaction and 
ultimately the Council’s reputation.  

High sickness absence levels can lead to raised productivity of remaining team 
members covering these staffing shortfalls , increasing their potential burn out,  
workplace stress,  reduced motivation, disengagement or even attrition of 
talented staff.  

Page 13 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



Date: 19th May 2017

With the recent budgetary decision to reduce agency and consultancy costs in the 
Council, the need to quickly improve staff attendance and support an employee’s 
wellbeing is vital if the Council is to achieve the Corporate Plan. 

A long term focus on employee wellbeing and health promotion can help reduce 
sickness absence.  Research has shown that high engagement, combined with 
high well-being leads to high performance working (CIPD).  Leaders and Line 
managers are key to the successful implementation of a wellbeing strategy. They 
also have a crucial part to play in creating the culture necessary to support a 
healthy Council. 

Recent research for the DWP concludes that small changes in the workplace, 
particularly on the part of line management, can make a big difference to the 
wellbeing of staff.  For example, gestures of thanks or providing a team lunch can 
help to make people feel part of a close-knit and supportive team.  

NICE also argues that organisations need to strengthen the ability of line 
managers to promote employee wellbeing; in particular, by developing a 
supportive leadership style that encourages participation, delegation, constructive 
feedback, mentoring and coaching. 

People Services are looking to launch a leadership/workforce development 
programme and this will enable managers to motivate and develop teams, 
particularly if certain individuals need support with performance, health or 
engagement issues.  Managers must be made especially aware of how their 
leadership styles could promote or damage the mental wellbeing of their teams, 
and to respond sensitively to employees’ emotional concerns, and any symptoms 
of mental ill health.

How an independent Absence Management Service works:

All Absence Management Service Providers use a comprehensive web-based 
system, including manager dashboard and full reporting functions. There is a 24/7 
dedicated independent absence telephone line for employees.  

An effective Absence Management Service Provider will record the detail of every 
absence in a fair, consistent, complete and accurate manner before issuing 
notifications  the employer (by email or text to a number of key stakeholders), in 
real time.  

Certain Absence Management Service Providers can also offer a Registered 
General Nurse who will speak with the employee and provide detailed medical  
absence information back to the Council, including guidance on the best next 
steps to take and when. (OH or Employee support Line could then be signposted)  
The nurse will also agree an expected return to work date with the employee so 
operational resourcing can be better managed in the Council.

Page 14



Date: 19th May 2017

If the Council uses an Absence Management provider (even for 12 months), it will 
free up Line Managers to encourage team wellbeing initiatives, demonstrate (or be 
trained in)  interpersonal skills, toidentify or minimise causes of intermittent 
absence, such as poor morale, potential  burn out or malingering tendencies.  
Recognising the early symptoms of stress (which currently accounts for 28% of all 
council sickness absence) will help develop a supportive culture.

Proposals

The Council have reviewed the proposals of three UK based Absence Management 
Service Providers.  

 All three provide a full web-based system with user dashboard and 
comprehensive Absence Management reporting.  

 Two provide a callcentre with a Day 1 – 24/7 reporting service.
 One provider delivers a Registered General Nurse intervention at Day 1.
 One provider already has a Public Sector Framework agreement.

Overview of Costings:
Full Proposals are attached at APPENDIX 1

Provider 1:  Life and Progress / Honeydew

1. A centralised 24/7 absence registration service – Service Contact Centre 
with experienced absence call handlers.

2. Absence Tracking and management reports
3. Early intervention and seamless integration with employers OH and 

Employee Assistance Line.

No medically trained intervention (Registered General Nurse)  
No Framework Agreement

Total Cost per annum: £15,000 plus VAT

Provider 2:  Activ People HR 

1. Comprehensive web based absence management system.  Includes 
Sickness absence and other absence (annual leave etc.) records that can be 
stored by the organisation themselves.

No call centre service – employees would still call into Council direct.
Minimum Contract Term is 3 years.
Training and data integration extra cost
No framework agreement

Total Cost per annum: £7,749.00 plus VAT

Page 15



Date: 19th May 2017

Provider 3:  First Care Absence Management Solutions

1. Comprehensive web-based Absence Management System. 
2. Full reporting and dashboard analysis
3. Full training, data and service implementation and launch.
4. Dedicated 24/7/Absence line with Day 1 Registered General Nurse triage.
5. Real-time alerts by txt and email
6. Streamlined with Employee Assistance Line and OH
7. Public Sector Framework agreement available (OJEU)

The leading UK Absence Management Service Provider  - top level service.

Total Cost per annum: £14,790.00 plus VAT

Recommendations

Based on the three proposals, First Care would be a preferred option as it 
offers a Public Sector Framework of a comprehensive web-based system, 24/7 call 
centre, a Day-1 Nurse triage with signposting to our existing services of the 
Employee Assistance Line and OH.  They also allow a 12 month minimum 
contract.

The benefits to incorporating this Absence Management service in the Council will 
include:

 Reducing absence and its associated costs – and freeing up Managers to 
work proactively on the wellbeing in their teams

 Increase manager compliance with reporting support and return to work 
interviews

 Facilitate quicker referrals to support services – OH and EAP

 Ensure correct and appropriate use of the attendance management policy

An Absence Management Services for the Council will enable:

• Improved operational performance and reduced risk of liability.
• Reduced absence rates and increased productivity.
• A reduction in the costs associated with absence, such as sick pay, 

overtime payments, replacement staff costs, performance fines and 
tribunals fees.

• Support and promotion of the health and wellbeing agenda – day one nurse 
intervention.

• Visibility of problem areas by employee, department, demographic or 
reason.

Page 16



Date: 19th May 2017

For Council employees:

• Access to a 24/7 absence contact centre and the convenience of being able 
to report absences at any time of day – not send texts / leave voicemails 
that may be missed.

• Free and confidential medical advice from Registered General Nurses, 
available 24/7.

• Consistent and fair treatment of every absence across the entire workforce.
• Efficient and immediate referrals to support services such as Occupational 

Health and Employee Assistance Programs.
• Reminders of key policies and procedures to follow – eg. RTW and pay.

For Line Managers:

• Reduced administrative workload.
• Trigger alerts and notifications informing managers of the actions they have 

to take and when they need to take them.
• Continuous help in being compliant with policies and procedures.
• Real time reports and detailed information that promotes confident and 

substantiated decision-making. 
• Increased operational resource due to reduced absence.

For People Services:

• Reduced workload for data entry, through the introduction of automated 
processes.

• Increased Line Manager Compliance with policies and procedures.
• Ability to identify key problem areas and being able to dedicate more time 

to addressing them.

Conclusion

As part of a holistic approach to improving wellbeing and engagement within 
Worcester City Council, the utilisation of an independent Absence Management 
Service, providing real time reporting and monitoring of employee absence with a 
day one intervention, especially by a General Registered Nurse could provide the 
following:

Cost Indicators:

Headcount 255
Average salary (inc. on-costs):  £22,000
Working days per employee: 212    (incl p/t)
Total working days available: 54060
Working day lost per year: 3493
Annual absence rate:  6.40%
Estimated cost of Absence 2016/17 £359,040

Page 17



Date: 19th May 2017

This estimated cost of sickness absence can equate to losing the 
productivity of 16 FTE staff each year

Added to this are the Intangible Cost Indicators:

 Ageing workforce – possible increase in longer term treatment and  
recoveries or more serious underlying medical conditions

 Burden of work and pressure on team members covering sickness absence
 Morale and engagement of staff when absence affects team working
 Wellbeing risk to staff covering absences – stress / burn out
 Increased customer complaints for non service delivery
 Lower stakeholder satisfaction
 Reputation of Council – and impact on employer brand.
 Recruitment costs increase.  Agency costs increase.  Costs of Induction and 

Training.
 Potential attrition of talented staff  - increase in voluntary redundancies

AGENCY COSTS
The Council has also spent £52, 194 in one quarter (Dec 16 – Feb 17) in 
Cleaner and Greener.  This can also equate to losing the productivity of 9 
FTE staff per year in C&G.  

References
www.CIPD.com 
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/fundamentals/relations/absence/factsheet

Health, work and wellbeing: attitudes of GPs, line managers and the general 
public”, DWP Communications research report, 
http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/comms-res-hwwb-attitudes0611.pdf 

“Promoting mental wellbeing through productive andhealthy working conditions: 
guidance for 
employers”,http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/PH22Guidance.pdf 

Page 18

http://www.cipd.com/


1

Report to: Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee, 13th December 2017

Report of: Head of People Services

Subject: Redundancy, Redeployment and Change Management Policies

1. Recommendation

1.1 That Personnel & General Purposes Sub Committee  recommends for 
approval the adoption of the Redundancy, Redeployment and Change 
Management Policies 

2. Background

2.1    The current Redundancy, Redeployment and Change Management Policies and 
         Procedures came into effect in December 2008 and are therefore long overdue for 
         review. 
         The update to these policies has so far incorporated feedback from the People  
         Services team, changes in employment legislation and technological advances within   
         the Council. 

2.2 Key changes include:

2.2.1 References to HR changed to People Services; and any references to Chief Executive 
changed to Managing Director. 
  

2.2.2 Redundancy: Employment legislation changes incorporated including Employment 
Protection Act being replaced by Employment Rights Act 1996; Consultation to 
commence 45 days before the first of the dismissals take effect rather than 90 days 
and to include information to Trade Unions on Agency workers.  Details included of 
the Modification Order 1999 which states that an employee will lose entitlement to a 
redundancy payment if they start employment with another body covered by the 
order within 4 weeks of the date of redundancy. Examples of redundancy selection 
criteria included; Assistance and support to now include e-learning on CV and 
interview techniques via the Learning Lounge and references to BERR removed and 
changed to Redundancy Payments Service   (RPS).
  

2.2.3 Redeployment: References now made to recruitment being undertaken via WM 
Jobs;  Job Profiles replacing Job Descriptions; the removal of the completion of a 
Skills Audit and the onus being placed on the employee to review the vacancy and 
apply should they wish; Re-deployment process to be undertaken via the WM Jobs 
Redeployment site.  

2.2.4 Change Management: Emphasis on the Council managing the change process in a 
fair, consistent and sensitive manner, references made to other related policies in 

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2

order to avoid duplication, e.g., under Implementation, you are referred to the 
Redeployment Policy; and a paragraph on Support for Employees has been included.

2.2.5 The trade unions have been consulted on these changes and the revised policies 
have been agreed by the Joint Consultative and Safety Committee.

3 Implications

3.2 Financial and Budgetary Implications
None

3.3 Legal and Governance Implications
None

3.4 Risk Implications
None

3.5 Corporate/Policy Implications
             Discussed in main body of Report 

3.6 Equality Implications
Attendance can be used as a redundancy selection criteria but absence relating to 
disability or pregnancy should not be included.

3.7 Human Resources Implications
Discussed in main body of Report 

3.8 Health and Safety Implications
None

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Alison Darbyshire  01905 721159 
alison.darbyshire@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: None

Page 20



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.6 Page 1 of 7
Redeployment Policy 

Worcester City Council

REDEPLOYMENT POLICY 
EFFECTIVE DATE
Title Redeployment Policy 
Status Draft
Document Version V0.6
Author Hilary Price
Sponsor Mark Edwards / Alison Darbyshire
Owner People Services
Approved by
Approved date
Review frequency Bi-annual
Next Review:

Version History
Version Date Description
0.1 1.12.08 Agreed procedure
0.2 02.03.16 Review of procedure to include as 

policy
0.3 26.04.16 Review with members of HR team
0.4 23.02.17 Human Resources changed to 

People Services
0.5 27.07.17 Feedback following review from 

members of People Service 
0.6 17.08.17 Removal of Skills Audit following 

references to Redeployment Site. 

Page 21 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.6 Page 2 of 7
Redeployment Policy 

Contents

Contents........................................................................................................2

1 Policy Statement ...................................................................................3

2 Scope ..................................................................................................3

3 Principles..............................................................................................3

4 Identification / Notification of Displaced Employees ....................................4

5 Vacancy Control ....................................................................................4

6 Suitable Alternative Employment .............................................................4

7 Employees Awaiting Job Offers ................................................................5

8 Trial Period(s) .......................................................................................6

9 Pay Protection .......................................................................................6

Page 22



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.6 Page 3 of 7
Redeployment Policy 

1 Policy Statement

1.1 Worcester City Council recognises the contribution of all employees in delivering its 
aim of providing excellent public services for Worcester. However, there will be 
occasions when the Council needs to redeploy employees as a result of a 
restructure or reorganisation; or when the employee is no longer capable of 
fulfilling their current role due to health issues and the application and /or 
investigation into all reasonable adjustments have been exhausted.

1.2 The Council is committed to retaining the valuable skills, knowledge and experience 
of all existing employees through redeployment, where this is practicable.   

1.3 This policy  outlines the Council’s approach to supporting individuals who are 
subject to redeployment. It is designed to assist, advise and encourage all 
employees in a redeployment situation to work towards a satisfactory outcome. Its 
aim is to ensure consistent and fair treatment for all, whilst meeting legislative 
requirements. 

2 Scope

2.1 The policy applies to all employees of the Council.  

2.2 It will not apply in cases where the employees themselves request a transfer, 
unless this is as a result of an operational need or a health and safety requirement.

2.3 If the Council enters a contract with an external provider such that the service 
provider changes it would normally be expected that TUPE applies and in these 
circumstances the employees involved would usually be required to transfer to the 
new employer under existing terms and conditions as within the prevailing TUPE 
legislation. 

3 Principles

3.1 The Council’s commitment to equality of opportunity will be observed at all times 
during the operation of this  policy. 

3.2 The policy  has been designed to maximise opportunities for employees eligible for 
redeployment and avoid the wasted time and cost of advertising jobs which could 
be filled by employees entitled to preferential treatment.

3.3 The Council will provide reasonable levels of support and training for employees 
subject to redeployment where this could realistically enable them to be 
successfully redeployed.   

Page 23



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.6 Page 4 of 7
Redeployment Policy 

4 Identification / Notification of Displaced Employees

4.1 Heads of Service and People Services will consult with Trade Unions about any 
changes they anticipate at the earliest opportunity and prior to any formal decisions 
being made. 

In the majority of cases it will be obvious which employees require redeployment 
because specific posts will have been identified or the individual will require a 
medical redeployment.  However, in some cases it will be necessary to identify 
some employees out of a larger group because the amount of work has diminished 
rather than disappeared completely.   

4.2 The selection process will follow the ACAS guidelines prevalent at the time and be 
subject to Trade Union consultation. (See also Redundancy Policy).    

4.3 Following consultation and any assimilation/ring-fenced process, People Services 
will be responsible for notifying the employee in writing that his/her post is no 
longer required, as per the prevailing employment legislation, and the date from 
which they will be regarded as requiring redeployment.  People Services will enter 
the employee’s details on the Redeployment Register.

  

5 Vacancy Control

5.1 Service Areas will continue to submit details of vacant positions to People Services 
via WM Jobs together with a copy of the advert, Role Profile/Job Description, Task 
Specifics/Work-Plan and Person Specification (if applicable) for advertising.  

5.2 Jobs will be advertised via the WM Jobs Redeployment Site for at risk employees 
only for 5 working days before being released internally and externally, if 
appropriate. Employees are then responsible for reviewing the details of the 
vacancy and applying should they wish. This may be done by submitting a CV 
and/or covering letter highlighting their skills, experience and competencies against 
the job and Person Specification. 

5.3 Support will be provided for those employees who do not have IT access or IT 
skills.

5.4 If, for any reason a vacancy has been advertised prior to employees requiring 
redeployment being identified, they will be given preferential consideration 
irrespective of other applicants.    

6 Suitable Alternative Employment

6.1 If an employee is redeployed and receives Pay Protection the intention is that 
wherever possible the employee concerned may remain on the redeployment 
register so as to return to a post at an equivalent level to their contractual pay.   
This means redeployed employees may not regard the initial redeployment as 
permanent and will be expected to accept further offers of suitable redeployment 
possibly requiring a series of moves before permanent redeployment to a post at an 

Page 24



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.6 Page 5 of 7
Redeployment Policy 

equivalent level to their contractual pay is finally secured.  Individuals may choose 
not to remain on the redeployment register if they so wish. 

6.2 An offer will only be made when the Service Area holding the vacancy, the 
individual seeking to be redeployed and People Services have given detailed 
consideration to the suitability of the vacancy. The employee should be appointed 
unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the People Services Team that 
the employee is not capable, even with suitable training, of satisfactorily 
undertaking the duties of the post or where there are reasons personal to the 
employee concerned.

6.3 All offers must be reasonable in terms of skills and experience required, level of 
responsibility and terms and conditions of service.  

6.4 If there is more than one applicant who is eligible for redeployment, all those who 
meet or come close to meeting the essential requirements will undergo a selection 
process and the most suitable candidate will be offered the job.  

6.5 Where an individual declines a reasonable offer of alternative employment they will 
be entitled to a right of appeal.    Should the appeal find the offer reasonable the 
individual will be expected to accept the post.  Should the employee fail to take up 
the post the Council will consider that it has met its statutory obligation and, if 
applicable, no redundancy payment will be due.   

6.6 Where a previously redeployed employee in receipt of Pay Protection declines a 
reasonable offer of alternative employment at or near their protected pay they will 
be entitled to a right of appeal.   Should the offer be found to be reasonable on 
appeal, the individual will be expected to accept the post or elect to remain in their 
current post without continued Pay Protection.   

6.7 Appeals should be submitted in writing, within 21 days of the receipt of the 
redeployment offer with full reasons for the appeal, to the Managing Director for 
consideration.

7 Employees Awaiting Job Offers

7.1 The Council has a statutory duty to continue to seek suitable alternative 
employment for employees served with notice of redundancy up to the date of 
termination.  

7.2 Heads of Service will be expected to make positive use of the skills and talents of 
employees who are awaiting a redeployment offer.  Displaced employees may be 
required to undertake any reasonable tasks in any Service Area whilst on the 
redeployment register. This includes those employees awaiting redeployment on 
medical grounds who will be required, if fit to do so, to fulfil a role with reasonable 
adjustments made if necessary. Advice must be taken from the relevant People 
Services Lead, as appropriate. 

Page 25



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.6 Page 6 of 7
Redeployment Policy 

7.3 Opportunities for work shadowing may also be considered, in order to provide 
individuals with a wider range of alternative work.  This will also have the additional 
benefit of assisting the employee to enhance their skills and knowledge and 
ultimately make them more employable.  

7.4 In the event that an employee requiring medical redeployment has not received an 
offer, before the end of 3 months, dismissal on the grounds of capability will be 
considered.

8 Trial Period(s)

8.1 Offers of alternative employment are subject to a statutory four week trial period. 
During this period both the manager and employee can decide upon the suitability 
of the employee for the job.

8.2 The trial period may be extended by mutual agreement following discussion with 
People Services. This will be up to a maximum of 12 weeks to allow for suitable 
training where necessary. Where the trial period is interrupted by absence including 
sickness or pre-planned leave arrangements, then the trial period may be extended 
by an equivalent amount. 

8.3 If the employee works beyond the end of the agreed trial period, including any 
jointly agreed extended period, any redundancy entitlement will be lost because the 
employee will be deemed to have accepted the new employment. 

8.4 Progress meetings should take place throughout the trial period and the employee 
will be given reasonable assistance, if necessary, to reach the required standard of 
performance. The employee may terminate the trial period at any time though 
he/she should be mindful of the possible consequences on any redundancy 
entitlement if this is done unreasonably.

8.5 A trial period may run concurrently with any notice period. If the trial period is 
longer than any already notified period of notice then the notice period may be 
extended to the end of the trial period.

8.6 Should the trial period be unsuccessful or not suitable then the employee will be 
eligible to seek other redeployment opportunities, so long as they are still within 
their notice period or the maximum length of stay on redeployment status.. 
Otherwise their contract will be terminated in accordance with redundancy notice 
already issued.

9 Pay Protection    
9.1 All employees will continue to receive their full contractual pay entitlement and 

annual pay awards for 12 months from the date their existing position was 
terminated.

Page 26



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.6 Page 7 of 7
Redeployment Policy 

9.2 Other than the contractual pay and allowances entitlement, the redeployed 
employee will be employed under the terms and conditions of the post to which 
they have been redeployed.

9.3 Any employee opting to remain in a lower graded post rather than accept further 
redeployment will no longer be covered by pay protection and will revert to the 
substantive grade for the post and be removed from the redeployment register.

9.4 When an employee has been redeployed this will be confirmed in writing by the 
relevant People Services Lead for the Service area.  If this involves Pay Protection 
the confirmation letter will also outline the employee’s right to preferential 
consideration for future vacancies at their previous substantive, or an intermediate 
grade, and the employee’s obligation to accept further suitable redeployment 
opportunities at or closer to their level of pay in accordance with Section 6.1.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 1 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

Worcester City Council

REDUNDANCY POLICY  
EFFECTIVE DATE
Title Redundancy
Status Draft
Document Version V0.5
Author Hilary Price
Sponsor Mark Edwards / Alison Darbyshire
Owner People Services
Approved by
Approved date
Review frequency Bi-annual
Next Review:

Version History
Version Date Description
0.1 01.12.2008 Agreed Policy
0.3 03.03.16 Review of procedure to include as 

policy
0.4 15.03.16 Review with members of HR team
0.5 23.02.17 Human Resources changed to 

People Services; any references to 
Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills (BIS) 
removed 

Page 29 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 2



Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 2 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

Contents

Contents........................................................................................................2

1 Policy Statement ...................................................................................3

2 Scope ..................................................................................................3

3 Consultation..........................................................................................3

4 Measures to Avoid or Minimise Redundancies.............................................4

5 Selection Criteria ...................................................................................4

6 Individual Meetings with Employees (At Risk Meetings) ...............................5

7 Redeployment .......................................................................................6

8 Assistance to Staff at Risk of Redundancy .................................................6

9 Retraining / Updating Skills .....................................................................6

10 Early Release ........................................................................................6

11 Redundancy Payments ...........................................................................7

12 Appeal .................................................................................................8

Page 30



Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 3 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

1 Policy Statement

1.1 Worcester City Council is committed to ensuring security of employment for its 
employees, as far as possible.  However, it is recognised that there may be changes 
in organisational requirements, economic or technological developments and 
financial pressures which may affect staffing needs. 

1.2 The Council will seek to minimise the effect of redundancies through the provision 
of sufficient time and effort to finding alternative employment for employees 
potentially facing redundancy. Where compulsory redundancy is inevitable the 
Council will handle the redundancy in the most fair, consistent and sympathetic 
manner possible.

1.3 The purpose of this policy is to explain the  process that would apply when the 
Council establish that there is a need to reduce staffing levels. It details the 
measures that will be sought to avoid compulsory redundancies and the process to 
be followed in the event that this becomes necessary.

1.4 This policy will operate in addition to all other related policies and statutory 
obligations, e.g. Redeployment Policy, Change Management Policy and Employment 
Rights Act 1996. 

2 Scope

2.1 The policy is based on the ACAS Code of Practice and will apply to all Council 
employees.

  

3 Consultation

3.1 There is a statutory requirement for collective consultation with the Trade Union 
representatives or employee representatives of employees who are affected by a 
redundancy process if there are likely to be more than 20 redundancies in total. 
Irrespective of the numbers affected by potential redundancy the Trade Unions will 
be consulted in every case. 

3.2 Irrespective of the number of potential redundancies consultation shall take place 
with each employee at risk of redundancy, accompanied by their union 
representative or a colleague if they so wish, to ensure a fair process is being 
followed.

3.3 The Council has a duty to make known the proposals and to consult affected 
employees and Trade Union representatives as soon as possible, and at least 
adhere to the minimum periods of consultation laid down by legislation.   

3.4 The Council will disclose in writing to Trade Unions: 

i) The reasons for the redundancy proposals;

ii) The number and descriptions of employees it is proposing to dismiss as redundant;

iii) The total numbers of employees of any such description;

Page 31



Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 4 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

iv) The way in which employees will be selected for redundancy;

v) How the dismissals are to be carried out, including the period over which the 
dismissals are to take effect;

vi) The method of calculating the amount of redundancy payments to be made to those 
who are dismissed;

vii) Agency Workers: the number of agency workers, where they are working and the 
type of work they are doing. 

3.5 Consultation with trade unions and individuals must commence prior to any public 
or corporate announcement of any redundancy programme. 

3.6 Consultation and notification of any redundancies will begin at the earliest 
opportunity, and in any event:- 

30 days before the first dismissals take effect where between 20 and 99 
redundancy dismissals are proposed at one establishment within a period of 90 
days or less;

45 days before the first of the dismissals take effect where 100 or more redundancy 
dismissals are proposed at one establishment within a period of 90 days or less.

For the purposes of this document, “one establishment” shall mean Worcester City 
Council in its entirety.   

4 Measures to Avoid or Minimise Redundancies

4.1 The Council will take reasonable steps to avoid compulsory redundancy for affected 
employees, including:

 A recruitment freeze

 Ring fencing vacancies / restricting external recruitment

 Allowing a gradual reduction by natural wastage, e.g. resignation

 Reduction / Review in overtime

 Reducing the use of agency and/or temporary employees

 At risk employees being given priority for any vacancies

 Working with other local employers to help redeploy employees

 Voluntary reductions in hours of work or job share

 Redeployment and/or training, retraining.

 Voluntary redundancy, where it suits the business / operational need. 

5 Selection Criteria
5.1 Where redundancies are necessary the Council will aim to handle these in the most 

fair, consistent and sympathetic manner possible, and will bring about any 
workforce changes in line with this guidance. 

Page 32



Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 5 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

5.2 A person is at risk of redundancy after posts in the new structure have been filled 
or a clear statement of workforce reduction in a particular area or department e.g. 
budget cuts have been made.    

When a person is identified as at risk, the situation should be explained to them at 
a meeting (group or individual) with the appropriate managers, followed by a letter 
to the individual confirming that they are at risk and the reasons for it. 

5.3 The Council will agree the pool of employees and the criteria for selection with 
recognised Trade Unions as part of the consultation process.      

5.4 Relevant selection criteria will depend on the circumstances but may include some 
or all of the following:

i) The skills, experience and aptitude of the employee.

ii) The standard of work performance.    

iii) The attendance or disciplinary record of the employee (absence relating to disability 
or pregnancy should not be included).

5.5 The Council will notify the Redundancy Payments Service (RPS) before consultation 
starts if it proposes to dismiss more than 20 employees, a copy of which will be 
forwarded to the relevant Trade Union representatives. 

6 Individual Meetings with Employees (At Risk Meetings)

6.1 Employees at risk of redundancy will meet with an appropriate manager and a 
member of People Services (along with a Trade Union representative or work 
colleague if required).    

6.2 At these meetings the line manager / People Services representative will explain:

 Why redundancies are necessary   

 Why the employee is in the pool being considered

 Discuss options available, e.g. suitable alternative employment

The following areas will also be discussed:

 Current skills, training and experience

 Willingness / ability to increase/decrease hours and/or change shift patterns as 
appropriate

 Willingness / ability to retrain

 Other areas in which they may like to work in

 Career prospects

 Other relevant personal circumstances

Further meetings will take place to issue any formal notices of redundancy and 
explain requirements during notice period.  

Page 33



Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 6 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

7 Redeployment
7.1 Success in redeploying employees will depend upon all the circumstances including 

numbers and types of jobs involved and the personal circumstances of each 
individual:

7.2 Redeployment will be carried out as described in the Redeployment Policy.  This 
policy details the search for suitable alternative employment and where offered, 
trial periods.

7.3 Successful redeployment and re-training within the Council will be considered to be 
continuous employment for all purposes. 

8 Assistance to Staff at Risk of Redundancy
8.1 The following facilities will be made available to those individuals who have been 

identified as “at risk”:-

i) Reasonable time off, outside of allocated annual leave, to attend job interviews, and 
a reasonable level of administrative support (telephone, internet access etc). 
Employees should request time off at the earliest opportunity through the normal 
leave procedures and they should not have these requests unreasonably refused.

ii) Reasonable time off to receive advice from other agencies (Department for Work & 
Pensions, HM Revenue and Customs, etc.) 

iii) The opportunity to access counselling and an Employee Assistance Programme

iv) Internet access to relevant job search sites will be made available to employees for 
job search purposes.

v) Advice and training in writing CVs and interview techniques (available as e-learning 
on the Learning Lounge). 

vi) Appropriate outplacement services may be considered. 

9 Retraining / Updating Skills
9.1 Where an individual wishes to change to a new post within the Council which 

requires retraining, this will be encouraged wherever possible depending on the 
time and resources required for the employee to become competent within the 
new role.

9.2 Retraining to seek a new professional or occupational qualification will be 
considered on an individual basis taking into account current skills, experience 
and finances available for this support.

10 Early Release
10.1 All employees will be expected to work their notice period.  However, 

consideration may be given to the early release of employees under notice of 
redundancy who can provide evidence of obtaining employment either within or 
outside the Council. This may affect any redundancy payments they might be 
expecting. The process for applying for early release will be as follows:

Page 34



Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 7 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

i) The employee must have received formal written notice of the termination of their 
employment by reason of redundancy. 

ii) A request in writing to leave earlier than the termination date must be received 
during the formal notice period as defined in section 3.6 above.

iii) The line manager, with People Services advice, will consider the request with due 
consideration to the individual circumstances and service needs.  

iv) The line manager will write formally to agree a date for early release.

v) This new date will become the revised date of redundancy for the purpose of 
calculating any entitlement to a redundancy payment.    

10.2 Employees who leave without prior arrangement either prior to or during the formal 
notice period may not be entitled to any redundancy payment.

11 Redundancy Payments

11.1 Payments will be made in line with current employment legislation. 

(See ACAS website - www.acas.org.uk or the GOV.UK website -  www.gov.uk 
or details available from People Services or Trade Unions (Unison and GMB)).  

The Council calculates payments as follows:- 

Statutory weeks payment from statutory calculator** x 1.34 x current weekly basic 
pay.  

For example:- 10 weeks (statutory calculation) x 1.34 x £150.    

**Weeks payment will be made in accordance with the prevailing legislation and 
the current statutory redundancy weeks calculator which is published on the 
GOV.UK website.   

The Statutory Redundancy Pay Calculator may only be used to indicate the weeks 
payable based on age and service:

https://www.gov.uk/calculate-your-redundancy-pay

11.2 Payments are based on continuous Local Government service. Where an employee 
has previously received either a redundancy payment and/or been given early 
retirement with pension benefits, previous Local Government service will not count 
for the purposes of calculating redundancy pay.

11.3 An employee will not be entitled to a redundancy payment if they have 
unreasonably refused to accept suitable alternative employment before or during 
the period of notice.

11.4 If the Council gives an employee notice of redundancy and before the dismissal 
takes effect (i.e. the last day of service) the employee receives an offer of 
employment from another organisation specified in Schedule 2 of the Modification 
Order 1999, the employee will lose entitlement to a redundancy payment if the new 
employment starts within four weeks of the date of the redundancy.

Page 35

http://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/calculate-your-redundancy-pay


Worcester City Council

23.02.17 v0.5 Page 8 of 8
Redundancy Policy 

12 Appeal

12.1 Employees to be made redundant are entitled to appeal against the decision if they 
feel that the selection criteria has been unfairly applied in their case.

  The appeal should be submitted in writing, with full reasons for the appeal, to the 
Managing Director within 21 days of the receipt of the written notification of the 
dismissal.

 

Page 36



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.3 Page 1 of 5
Change Management Policy 

Worcester City Council

CHANGE MANAGEMENT 
POLICY 
EFFECTIVE DATE
Title Change Management Policy
Status Draft
Document Version V0.3
Author Hilary Price
Sponsor Mark Edwards / Alison Darbyshire
Owner People Services
Approved by
Approved date
Review frequency
Next Review:

Version History
Version Date Description
0.1 01.12.2008 Agreed procedure
0.2 27.07.2017 Review of procedure to include as 

policy
0.3 17.08.17 Feedback from People Services 

incorporated into policy

Page 37 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 3



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.3 Page 2 of 5
Change Management Policy 

Contents

Contents........................................................................................................2

1 Policy Statement ...................................................................................3

2 Scope ..................................................................................................3

3 Identifying the Case for Change...............................................................3

4 Consultation..........................................................................................3

5 Implementation.....................................................................................4

6 Redeployment .......................................................................................4

7 Voluntary Redundancy............................................................................4

8 Compulsory Redundancy.........................................................................4

9 Service Transfers...................................................................................5

10 Pay Protection .......................................................................................5

11 Pension Issues ......................................................................................5

12 Support for Employees ...........................................................................5

Page 38



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.3 Page 3 of 5
Change Management Policy 

1 Policy Statement

1.1 Change is constant and a necessary part of a continually improving organisation. 
Whilst this can make for a dynamic and vibrant place to work, change can also 
present challenges for employees and therefore it is essential that it is expertly 
managed. 

1.2 As a consequence of changes in organisational requirements, economic or 
technological developments or other factors, it will, from time to time, be necessary 
to engage in a process of change which will impact upon staffing requirements, 
structures and organisation.   

1.3 The purpose of this policy is to  set out the Council’s approach to any restructuring 
or re-organisation process and is designed to assist managers and give clarity to 
those affected.  

1.4 The Council is committed to managing the change process in a fair, consistent, 
sensitive and effective manner. Where change may result in the reduction of posts 
and as a consequence a risk of redundancy, all efforts will be made to deal with 
employees in an empathetic and supportive manner. 

2 Scope

2.1 The policy applies to all Council employees and should be read in conjunction with 
the Redundancy and Redeployment Policies and any related procedures , as 
appropriate.

  

3 Identifying the Case for Change

3.1 The Council must establish the reasons for the proposed change and communicate 
these to staff as appropriate. The employee groups affected by the change must be 
clearly identified.  

3.2 If the change is minor, for instance, without direct impact on terms and conditions / 
Contract of Employment, there should be no need for consultation with Union 
representatives. However, if at any stage an employee requests consultation with 
Union Representatives this will be arranged and the time scale adjusted.  

3.3 If there are changes to terms and conditions / the Contract of Employment which 
will affect employees it will be necessary to ensure that meaningful consultation 
takes place within the prevailing employment legislation, local agreements and  
policies and procedures.    

4 Consultation

4.1 The Council is committed to full and meaningful consultation with employees and 
with the recognised Trade Unions regarding proposed organisational change. It will 
consult with employees who may be affected, both directly and indirectly (e.g. 

Page 39



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.3 Page 4 of 5
Change Management Policy 

posts involved in any re-structuring moves and those impacted upon by additional 
or changed workloads or practices) and with the relevant Trade Unions. 

4.2 The first stage of any consultation process will outline the changes proposed, the 
background and reasons for change, the benefits and efficiencies which are 
envisaged and agree the consultation processes and timetable which will be used 
with those involved. This will be undertaken ahead of any formal approval being 
sought in order to ensure consultation comments are taken into account in the final 
decision making process.

4.3 The second stage of the consultation process will identify specific jobs, provide the 
correct job profile and will define  the process for appointment to the jobs in the 
new structure and any appropriate assimilation and ring fencing arrangements. 

4.4 At the end of the consultation period, approval from the relevant committee(s), if 
appropriate, will be sought before making appointments to the new structure. 

4.5 The length and processes involved in each stage of the consultation will depend on 
the complexity of the proposed change and the number of employees involved but, 
in any case, shall be no less than the locally agreed consultation process and the 
prevailing employment legislation.      

5 Implementation
5.1 Where employees are displaced by a restructure , please refer to the Council’s 

Redeployment Policy. 

 

6 Redeployment

6.1 Where employees are not appointed to new posts, attempts will be made to 
redeploy them to an alternative appropriate post within the Council.  Please refer to 
the Redeployment Policy for details on this process. 

6.2 If redeployment is not possible, then employees may be placed “at risk” of 
compulsory redundancy. (See section 8)

7 Voluntary Redundancy
7.1 The Council will consider requests for voluntary redundancy from any  employee 

who is displaced by the restructuring proposals. Requests will be considered on the 
basis of future skills requirements of the department/ organisation, cost, potential 
efficiency gains and the availability or prospect of reasonable alternative posts.  

8 Compulsory Redundancy
8.1 The Council may make compulsory redundancies in the event that displaced 

employees cannot be placed in suitable alternative posts through the Redeployment 
Policy.

Page 40



Worcester City Council

17.08.17 v0.3 Page 5 of 5
Change Management Policy 

Compulsory Redundancy will follow the relevant statutory arrangements       and be 
in line with the Council’s Redundancy Policy.  

9 Service Transfers
9.1 Where a reorganisation leads to services transferring to another organisation, it 

would normally be expected that TUPE applies and in such circumstances the 
employees involved would usually be required to transfer to the new employer 
under existing terms and conditions as within the prevailing TUPE legislation. 

10 Pay Protection

10.1 This is detailed in Section 9 of the Redeployment Policy. 

11 Pension Issues

11.1 Worcestershire County Council are our Pensions Administrators and can be asked to 
provide information on individual pension positions as appropriate.

11.2  Pensions provisions will also be subject to the Council’s Pensions Discretions Policy.

12 Support for Employees
12.1 The process of change can be a stressful experience for all concerned and 

employees should be made aware of the support mechanisms that are available to 
them.

12.2 If employees have concerns they should speak to their manager in the first 
instance. They may also contact their Trade Union representative if they are a 
member; or a member of the People Services team.

12.3 Employees should be advised of the support available via the Employee Assistance 
Programme.

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



1  

Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee – 13th December 2017

Report of: People Services Team Leader, People Services 

Subject: Labour Market Force’s Supplement Policy

1. Recommendation

1.1 That the Personnel & General Purposes Sub Committee  recommends the 
adoption of a new Labour Market Force’s Supplement Policy following the 
implementation of Paymatters.

2. Background

2.1 Paymatters was introduced 1 January 2017 with new salary grades and generic job 
titles for employees.  As with any job evaluation process, the aim was to ensure 
internal equity of pay and grading decisions.  Such a process does not take account 
of the labour markets ability to deliver good candidates at the agreed salary level.

2.2 It is essential that the Council is able to attract and retain high performing staff with 
the skills, knowledge and experience to meet the changing needs in service delivery.

2.3 There are times when the grading for a post results in an inability to successfully 
recruit to, or retain staff in particular posts. In such cases it may be appropriate to 
pay a market force supplement in addition to the salary to ensure that such a post is 
filled. Such a payment is lawful under the Equality Act 2010 where there is evidence 
to justify that market factors are the “material reason” for the post attracting a 
higher rate of pay than other posts graded similarly.

2.4 We have consulted with the trade unions on this proposal and it was agreed at Joint 
Consultative and Safety Committee.

3. Preferred Option 

3.1 To agree to the introduction of the Labour Market Force’s Supplement Policy.

4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 To not introduce the Labour Market Force’s Supplement Policy however this can limit 
the responsiveness of the Council in their journey to Excellence in employing and 
retaining excellent staff. 

5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
Any Market forces supplements will have a financial impact but they are to be agreed 
by the Staffing & Pay board.

Page 43 Agenda Item 7



2  

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications
This would be a legally acceptable solution.

5.3 Risk Implications
The risk is on losing or failing to employ key staff if market pay rates for particular 
roles are not in line with the council pay structure.

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
This is a new stand alone policy.  

5.5 Equality Implications
This is lawful under the Equality Act in accordance with the conditions set out in the 
policy.

5.6 Human Resources Implications
As above.

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
None.

Ward(s): Resources & Governance
Contact Officer: Alison Darbyshire, People Services Team Leader 01905 

721159.  alison.darbyshire@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 
 

Page 44

mailto:alison.darbyshire@worcester.gov.uk


1

WORCESTER CITY COUNCIL
PAY MATTERS

Labour Market Force’s Supplement Policy

1.  Policy Statement   
1.1 The policy framework for the development and implementation of ‘Pay Matters’ seeks to 

balance the organisations future business needs with ensuring fairness and equality 
across our pay and reward structures in  accordance with the values of Worcester City 
Council (the Council). The grading, and therefore the salary range, of all posts is 
determined by the outcome of job evaluation. However, it is also essential that the 
Council is able to attract and retain high performing staff with the skills, knowledge and 
experience to meet the changing needs in service delivery.  

1.2 There are times when the grading for a post results in an inability to successfully recruit 
to, or retain staff in particular posts. In such cases it may be appropriate to pay a market 
force supplement in addition to the salary to ensure that such a post is filled. Such a 
payment is lawful under the Equality Act 2010 where there is evidence to justify that 
market factors are the “material reason” for the post attracting a higher rate of pay than 
other posts graded similarly.  

1.3 The Council recognises the need to have a policy to deal with difficult recruitment 
situations where conditions in the market for particular skills are causing recruitment and 
retention problems that are impacting on the delivery of the service to customers as a 
result of staff shortages.  

1.4 The Council needs to remain aware of the risk of potential claims for equal pay and the 
rate paid for the job should remain at the evaluated rate to protect the Council. Whilst a 
market forces supplement can be paid, in order for the Council to defend such (in the 
event of legal challenge) it must be based on robust evidence; be reviewed annually and 
have the facility to be removed with a reasonable period of notice if the market 
conditions change.  

1.5 This policy will set out when such supplements may be paid, the process by which such 
cases are considered and approved and the conditions applied to them.   

2.  Scope and aims of the policy  
2.1.  This policy covers all prospective and existing employees of the Council.  

2.2. This policy aims to ensure that the Council is able to attract and retain highly skilled 
employees by offering competitive salaries.  

2.3. It aims to provide a fair and transparent system for considering payment of a market 
force supplement where a recruitment and/or retention problem has been identified, 

Page 45 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



2

which relates to a lack of competitiveness between the remuneration levels within the 
Council and the relevant labour market for the particular job role. 

2.4 It aims to ensure that the Council meets the requirements of equal pay legislation and is 
not discriminatory in applying a market force supplement to a post.    

3. Definition  
3.1. Market supplements are additional payments paid where a particular skill, specialism or 

qualification attracts a higher rate of pay in the labour market than is attributed to the job 
through job evaluation.  Market supplements are payable in addition to basic salary but 
form part of the pensionable pay. They are detailed separately in the offer of 
appointment/amendment to terms and conditions. This makes it clear that this is in 
addition to the rate recommended for the job through job evaluation and payments may 
be ceased  in accordance with the serving of the relevant notice period..   

4. Legal Framework  
4.1  The Equalities and Human Rights Commission recognises that an employer may wish to 

pay one group of workers more than another, even though their work is of equal value, 
because the ‘going rate’ for the job is higher. This may be due to geographical reasons 
or a skills shortage of qualified or experienced staff in one job as compared to another. 
The scope for using market force as a basis for explaining the difference in pay between 
a man and a woman doing equal work is limited, however in some circumstances market 
force can provide a defence to an equal pay claim.  

4.2  The Council must be able to demonstrate that there are objectively justified grounds to 
enhance the pay of a particular job by the payment of a market force supplement. This 
must include:   

 Establishing clear evidence that there are recruitment and retention difficulties 
resulting in actual or foreseeable operational and/or organisational problems;  

 Demonstrating that these problems will be removed or lessened by paying a market 
force supplement and that it will be subject to review as circumstances change;  

 Demonstrating that the external market rate for the job is higher than the internal 
rate, including ensuring that there is a valid comparison between the post concerned 
and the posts identified in other equivalent (and relevant) organisations, i.e. are they 
the same in terms of duties and responsibilities, and are there any differences in 
conditions of employment/overall reward package;

 Demonstration that the proposal is free from bias on the grounds of gender, race, 
disability, marital status, religious belief, sexual orientation or other unlawful grounds 
of discrimination.   

Page 46



3

5.  Procedure  
 

5.1 The appointing manager must provide the Head of People Services  with  an initial 
business case, which must include the following information:-  

 Recruitment - evidence of a failure to fill the role following an appropriate external 
recruitment process, including the number of applications for a post; the number of 
candidates short listed; the reasons for non appointment and the appropriateness of 
the media used;  

 Impact - an outline of the operational problems caused by the recruitment and 
retention issues; how long the post has been vacant and the impact on the Service;  

 Alternative options considered e.g. whether the post could be redesigned or its 
duties and responsibilities be covered in an alternative way.  

 An analysis of the consideration  given to training and development of existing staff 
and establishing trainee posts, to address any recruitment difficulties or skills 
shortages;  

 Market data - The initial evidence base upon which the proposed market forces 
supplement is based.  This can be obtained from job advertisements, service specific 
survey data/pay databases and direct from other councils or relevant public sector 
employers.  It is essential that posts must be matched in terms of duties and 
responsibilities, and the terms and conditions and total reward package must be 
ascertained. Information should be provided for comparable posts in at least three 
relevant organisations.    

 The proposed payment should be set at a level to alleviate the recruitment/retention 
difficulties and can be justified in terms of the rates paid to the comparator jobs in the 
local market place. The value of the supplement will be the difference between the 
internal comparison and the market rate. It will be a specific amount.  

5.2 Making a payment  

 If a market force supplement is introduced to a particular post category, it will 
reviewed by the Pay & Staffing Board to determine if it should be applied to all 
current employees in that post category. The law requires that to ensure equal pay 
principles, market force supplements are only awarded in cases where a ‘genuine 
material reason’ can be demonstrated for the payment.  People Services will provide 
to employees in a post which attracts a market force supplement written confirmation 
detailing the basis for paying a market force supplement, the amount of the payment, 
the effective date, the duration of the payment, arrangements for review and how any 
subsequent changes would be implemented. The post holder must agree to and sign 
for an amendment to their contract. This will state that if upon review there is no 
longer justification to pay a market supplement, that it will be withdrawn. The Council 
will seek to implement the supplement for a period of 2 years at which time a review 
will take place. The outcome of the review could lead to an extension of the 
supplement for another 12 months or 12 months’ written notice will be given. 

Page 47



4

 If the post holder is promoted or appointed to another position which is not subject to 
a market force supplement, the market force supplement will cease with effect from 
the date of their commencement in the new position.  

 The amount of any market force supplement must be clearly identified as a separate 
payment and not incorporated in the basic grade/rate of pay for the post. It will not 
alter the grade of the post determined by the job evaluation process.  

 Payments will be made on a pro-rata basis to the hours worked for staff working part-
time in the post, based on the amount for full-time staff.  

 The cost of market force supplements will be met from the relevant service area’s 
budget.  

 The market force supplement will be subject to tax, national insurance (NI) and will 
be pensionable. In seeking approval for market force supplements the cost for the 
employers NI and pension contributions along with the cost of the market force 
supplement must be included in the business case. 

 The market force supplement would be included in gross pay and will therefore be 
included in calculations for e.g. sick pay, maternity/paternity/adoption pay, holiday 
pay, overtime pay, redundancy pay, and when making any deductions.  

 If the employee in post becomes subject to protection of earnings for any reason the 
market force supplement payment will not be included in the protection 
arrangements.   

5.3 Reviewing the payment of a market force supplement  

 It is necessary to review the payment of a market force supplement, in order to 
ensure that it continues to be justified and that the amount paid is still appropriate.    

 The manager must complete an updated business case (Appendix A) to obtain 
approval for renewal from the Corporate Director, Head of People Services and 
Head of Finance.  

 Market supplements are awarded to a post for a specified period of time. They will be 
reviewed initially after 2 years’ then every twelve months. In the event of the review 
not taking place within the specified period, payment will be stopped.  

 A review will also be carried out when an individual leaves a post that has attracted a 
market force supplement, in order to assess the need to advertise the vacancy with a 
market force supplement in the current labour market. Where such a review leads to 
a decision to withdraw the market force supplement, this will apply with immediate 
effect to vacant posts.  Existing employees still in receipt of a market force 
supplement will be given 12 months’ written notice (although the Council reserves 
the right to change this period) that the market force supplement is being withdrawn.     

 If, subsequent to approval to pay or to continue to pay a market force supplement for 
a post, a post is re-graded as a result of job evaluation, a review should be carried 
out to assess the need to continue to pay a market force supplement or to vary the 
amount to be paid. Depending on the outcome,  People Services will write to the post 
holder(s) accordingly.   

Page 48



5

6.0. Responsibilities  
6.1. It is the responsibility of the appointing manager to provide a business case (Appendix 1) 

to demonstrate the grounds to pay a market force supplement.  

6.2.  A People Services representative will assist the appointing manager in gathering factual 
evidence.  

6.3. Payment of any market force supplement, and subsequent withdrawal, will be subject to 
approval by the relevant Corporate Director, Head of People Services and Head of 
Finance.  

6.4. People Services will confirm in writing to the employee the details in relation to payment 
of a market force supplement at the point it is applied to the post and upon review.  

7.0   Monitoring and Evaluation  
7.1  This policy will be reviewed at least once every year and more frequently if the need 

arises as a result of a change of regulation or legislation, misuse of the policy or 
changes in circumstances at the Council. The review of the policy will be carried out in 
accordance with the established procedures agreed and include engagement and 
consultation with all appropriate stakeholders.   

7.2  The policy will be compliant with the requirements of Equality Act 2010 and the public 
sector equality duty to advance equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination. All 
casework and intelligence gathered in respect of the market force supplement posts and 
appointments will be analysed for its impact on the Council’s public sector equality duty 
at least annually.        

Page 49



6

Market Supplement Policy - Appendix 1

BUSINESS CASE FOR CONSIDERATION OF MARKET FORCES SUPPLEMENT 
Role(s) for which application for a supplement 
is being made  
Service Area

Date of Application   

Provide supporting information on the impact of the operational difficulties caused by 
the Recruitment and Retention Problems.   

A) Recruitment – Failure of at least 2 attempts to recruit a post through external advertising, 
the number of candidates short listed, and the appropriateness of the media used.     

      
B) Retention – Failure to keep employees in post longer than 12 months over a 3 year 

period.  Exit interview data indicating uncompetitive salary package offered in 
comparison to the local or national market.           

C) Retention of employees with specific key skills, knowledge and experience which is 
business critical to the Council.               

Page 50



7

Options considered – whether the post could be redesigned.  Consideration must be given to 
training and development of existing staff, for example, in relation to any positive action training 
initiatives, and establishing trainee posts, to address any recruitment difficulties or skills 
shortages.             

Market data - what appears to be the local ‘going rate’ for the job. This can be obtained from job 
advertisements, survey data/pay databases and direct from other local authorities. Posts must 
be matched in terms of duties and responsibilities, and the terms and conditions and total 
reward package must be ascertained. Information should be provided for comparable posts in at 
least three relevant organisations.    

Equality Impact Information – Details to demonstrate that the proposals are not in breach of 
Equality Act 2010 and in line with the public sector equality duty.  

Analysing the Market Data 

Issues to be considered Evidence

What is the market pay rate for the post?  Please 
attach evidence (quoting sources of data).    

What is the difference between the standard 
Council reward package for this role and the 
market rate? (The full reward package should be 
considered when making comparisons.)  
 

What level of supplement would be appropriate? 
(Please provide additional rationale if a higher 
than £5k is being proposed.)   

Additional Comments:

Page 51



8

Details of Approved Market Supplement Payment  

Annual Supplement (£) (in 
multiples of £500 up to £5k) 

The supplement will apply for a period of 
______months 

Head of People Services  
(print name)    

head of People Services  
(signature)    

Date:  

Head of Finance Services  
(print name)    

Head of Finance Services 
(signature)    

Date:  

Corporate Director 
(print name)    

Corporate Director
(signature)    

Date:   

Head of Service 
(print name)   

Head of Service 
(signature)

Date:

Page 52



1  

Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee – 13th December 2017

Report of: People Services Team Leader, People Services 

Subject: REVIEW OF SUBSISTENCE EXPENSES FOR EMPLOYEES

1. Recommendation

1.1 That the Personnel & General Purposes Sub Committee  approve the 
proposed amendments to existing Subsistence rates in line with HMRC 
rules. (Appendix 1)

2. Background

2.1 The current subsistence rates in use were agreed nationally and have not been 
updated since the last national agreement in 1997 (see Appendix 2).

2.2 A recent query from a member of staff around paying for hotel costs whilst on a 
course in London has highlighted this issue.

2.3 The Council moved to pay HMRC rates for mileage as part of the Terms & Conditions 
review in 2012.

2.4 We have consulted with the trade unions on this proposal and it was agreed at Joint 
Consultative and Safety Committee.

3. Preferred Option 

3.1 To introduce HMRC rates for Subsistence (see Appendix 1 for current rates).

3.2 Overnight accommodation rate: as there is no current HMRC rate for this, the 
recommendation is to include the following wording  “It is expected that employees 
that are required to stay in overnight accommodation will book reasonably priced 
accommodation according to the location and may claim actual expenses by 
providing a valid receipt”

4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 To not amend the current rates, however this is not deemed to be fair to staff given 
inflation since the rates were last revised 20 years ago. 

5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
The actual rate differences are not huge and are by manager approval.  Subsistence 
expenses tend to be low traditionally with mileage and car parking being the largest 
claims.

Page 53 Agenda Item 8



2  

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications
This would be a legally acceptable solution.

5.3 Risk Implications
The risk is on staff morale by continuing to pay such old rates for out of pocket 
expenses.

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
Amendment to Subsistence rates only.  

5.5 Equality Implications
None.

5.6 Human Resources Implications
As above.

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
None.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Alison Darbyshire, People Services Team Leader 01905 

721159.  alison.darbyshire@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 
 

Page 54

mailto:alison.darbyshire@worcester.gov.uk


Expense rates 2017/18

Mileage 

Paid at HMRC rate (currently 45p per mile for vehicles and 20p per mile for bicycles)

Subsistence 

Worcester City Council will pay HMRC rates as:

https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/employment-income-manual/eim30240 

Subsistence rates (November 2017) are set as follows.

Minimum journey time Maximum amount of meal allowance

5 hours £5

10 hours £10

15 hours (and ongoing at 8pm) £25

Where a scale rate of £5 or £10 is paid and the qualifying journey in respect of which it 
is paid lasts beyond 8pm a supplementary rate of £10 can be paid to cover the 
additional expenses necessarily incurred as a result of working late.

A meal is defined as a combination of food and drink and would take a normal 
dictionary meaning. Where employees are required to start early or finish late on a 
regular basis, the over 5 hour and 10 hour rate, whichever is applicable, can be paid 
provided that all the other qualifying conditions are satisfied.

Qualifying conditions - 

 the travel must be in the performance of an employee’s duties or to a temporary 
place of work, on a journey that is not substantially ordinary commuting.

 the employee should be absent from his normal place of work or home for a 
continuous period in excess of five hours or ten hours.

 the employee should have incurred a cost on a meal (food and drink) after 
starting the journey and retained appropriate evidence of their expenditure.

An employee can only be reimbursed for a meal once. If the cost of an evening meal or 
breakfast is reimbursed on an actual basis, because it is included in the cost of an 
overnight stay, the employee would not also be entitled to a benchmark rate in respect 
of those meals.

Overnight subsistence rate -  The over 15 hour rate for subsistence will almost always 
apply where an employee is required to stay away overnight, provided the cost of any 
meals is not also included in an accommodation payment.

Overnight accommodation rate: as there is no current HMRC rate for this, it is 
expected that employees that are required to stay in overnight accommodation will 
book reasonably priced accommodation according to the location by manager approval 
and may claim actual expenses by providing a valid receipt.

Page 55 Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1

https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/employment-income-manual/eim30240


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 57 Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 59 Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61 Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes , 30/08/2017 Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee
	Minutes , 01/09/2017 Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee
	$$Minutes 13-11-17

	5 Options to Improve Sickness Absence Across The Council
	Business Case Absence Management Service V.2

	6 Redundancy, Redeployment and Change Management Policies
	Redeployment Policy (procedure removed) November2017
	Redundancy Policy (Procedure removed) November2017
	Change Management Policy (Procedure removed) November2017

	7 Labour Market Force's Supplement Policy
	Market Force Policy V3

	8 Review of Subsistence  Expenses for  Employees
	Expense rates 2017-18 v0.2
	Subsistence rates 1997

	11 Minutes (Exempt)
	Restricted Minutes , 01/09/2017 Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee


